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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

This case involves an appeal from a judgment of the United States District Court for the 

District of New Union.  The District Court had subject matter jurisdiction over the case because 

the issues arise under the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251 et seq., a law of the United States.  

Federal district courts have original jurisdiction over any civil action arising under the laws of 

the United States.  33 U.S.C. § 1331.  The District Court handed down its ruling on June 1, 2012.  

New Union Wildlife Federation promptly appealed the District Court’s decision on all four 

issues on which it ruled.  The decision of the District Court was a ruling of summary judgment, a 

final decision in the matter, and the United States Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has 

jurisdiction to hear appeals from any final decision of the United States District Court for the 

District of New Union.  28 U.S.C. § 1291. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

Wetlands are a vital ecological habitat.  For thousands of years, the Muddy River 

wetlands have been home to unique flora and fauna and have maintained the integrity of the 

river.  (R. at 3.)  The banks of the Muddy River are covered in dense woodland, which absorbs 

sediment and pollutants and buffers the river from flooding.  (R. at 3.)  The river itself is used for 

recreational boating and fishing.  (R. at 6.)  Dottie Milford, Zeke Norton, and Effie Lawless all 

frequent the Muddy River: boating and fishing in the river and picnicking on its shores.  (R. at 

6.)  Norton also frogs on the banks of the Muddy River, typically finding a dozen good-sized 

frogs in the right season.  (R. at 6.) 

Jim Bob Bowman (“Defendant-Appellee”) owns a 1000-acre parcel adjacent to the 

Muddy River.  (R. at 3.)  The parcel occupies about 650 feet of Muddy River shoreline and is 
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located within the boundaries of New Union.  (R. at 3.)  According to the United States Army 

Corps of Engineers Wetlands Determination Manual, Bowman’s parcel is a wetland.  (R. at 4.)  

As a wetland, the parcel helps to maintain water quality in the Muddy River, acts as a reservoir 

for the associated watershed, provides flood protection and erosion control as part of the river’s 

flood plain, and supports diverse species of wildlife that depend on it for food, habitat, or refuge.  

See Env’l Prot. Agency, Functions and Values of Wetlands, EPA 843-F-01-002c (2001). 

On June 15, 2011, Bowman began land clearing operations on the Muddy River parcel.  

(R. at 4.)  He used a bulldozer to knock down trees and smaller plants on the majority of the 

parcel, and then to push the resulting debris into windrows, which he then burned.  (R. at 4.)  

Next, he used a bulldozer to dig trenches, in which he buried both burned and unburned 

vegetation.  (R. at 4.)  He then leveled the resulting field, again using the bulldozer to scrape 

plant material and soil to fill low-lying portions of the parcel.  (R. at 4.)  The operation left only a 

150-foot strip of undisturbed wetland along the Muddy River.  (R. at 4.)  This strip survived only 

because the land was too difficult to bulldoze.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman also built a wide ditch to drain 

his fields into the Muddy River, thereby not only drying out the wetlands, but also raising the 

prospect of introducing agricultural runoff into the river.  (R. at 4.)  Bowman did not obtain a 

permit from any government agency before destroying the wetland.  (R. at 4.)  A wetland that 

stood for untold ages, took only thirty days to destroy.  (R. at 4.)  In September, after the parcel 

was drained, Bowman sowed and planted a crop of winter wheat.  (R. at 5.) 

New Union Wildlife Federation (NUWF) (“Plaintiff-Appellant”) is a non-profit 

organization located in New Union.  (R. at 4.)  Dottie Milford, Zeke Norton, and Effie Lawless 

are NUWF members.  (R. at 6.)  The purpose of NUWF is to protect the native plants and 
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wildlife of the state.  (R. at 4.)  The preservation of the Muddy River wetlands is vital to 

sustaining New Union’s native plants and wildlife.  (R. at 6.) 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On July 1, 2011, NUWF sent notice to Bowman, the EPA, and the New Union 

Department of Environmental Protection (NUDEP) (“Intervener-Appellant”) of its intent to bring 

a citizen suit against Bowman under § 505 of the Clean Water Act (CWA) for violating §§ 

301(a) and 404 of the CWA.  (R. at 4.)  After receiving the notice, NUDEP informed Bowman 

that he had violated state and federal law by clearing the parcel.  (R. at 4.)  NUWF’s lawsuit was 

filed on August 30, 2011, in New Union District Court, seeking civil penalties and an order 

requiring Bowman to remove the fill materials and restore the wetlands.  (R. at 5.) 

Previously, on August 10, 2011, NUDEP had brought suit against Bowman for CWA 

violations in federal district court.  (R. at 5.)  Before initiating the lawsuit, NUDEP and Bowman 

negotiated a settlement agreement that was incorporated into an administrative order (“Order”) 

on August 1, 2011.  (R. at 4.)  In accordance with the settlement agreement, the Order commands 

Bowman to convey a conservation easement of the remaining 150-foot strip of wooded land on 

his property as well as an additional 75-foot buffer zone between the easement and Bowman’s 

field.  (R. at 4.)  The Order forbids Bowman from developing on the easement or the buffer zone.  

(R. at 4.)  The easement opens the land to public entry for appropriate activities.  (R. at 4.)  

Although the CWA allows for penalties up to $125,000 to be imposed on violators, NUDEP 

brought no action for penalties against Bowman.  (R. at 4.)  NUDEP then filed to enter a judicial 

decree identical to its Order on September 5, 2011.  (R. at 5.)  NUDEP’s motion is still pending 

before the New Union District Court.  (R. at 5.) 
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On September 15, 2011, NUWF and NUDEP filed cross-motions to intervene in each 

other’s § 505 actions.  (R. at 5.)  The District Court allowed NUDEP to intervene in NUWF’s 

lawsuit.  (R. at 5.)  After discovery, NUWF, NUDEP, and Bowman filed cross-motions for 

summary judgment.  (R. at 5.)  Four issues were brought before the court: (1) whether NUWF 

has standing, (2) whether the court has subject matter jurisdiction under § 505(a) of the CWA, 

(3) whether the court has subject matter jurisdiction under § 505(b) of the CWA, and (4) whether 

Bowman violated the CWA.  (R. at 5.) 

The District Court granted all parts of Bowman’s motion and granted parts two and three 

of NUDEP’s motion.  (R. at 11.)  First, the court found that NUWF lacked standing because it 

could not establish injury-in-fact.  (R. at 6.)  Next, the court found that it lacked subject matter 

jurisdiction under § 505(a) and (b) because all of Bowman’s violations were solely in the past 

(R. at 7.) and because NUDEP acted prior to the filing of NUWF’s lawsuit.  (R. at 8.)  Finally, 

the court held there was no CWA violation because it found Bowman did not discharge dredge 

or fill material into the Muddy River.  (R. at 10.) 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A grant of summary judgment is reviewed de novo.  Suzuki Motor Corp. v. Consumers 

Union of U.S., Inc., 330 F.3d 1110, 1131 (9th Cir. 2003).  The appellate court’s review is 

governed by the same standard used by the trial court in rendering summary judgment under 

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c).  Id.; Adcock v. Chrysler Corp., 166 F.3d 1290, 1292 (9th 

Cir. 1999).  The court must therefore determine, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable 

to the nonmoving party, whether there are any genuine issues of material fact and whether the 

district court correctly applied the substantive law.  Adcock, 166 F.3d at 1292. 
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ISSUES PRESENTED 

I.  Whether the District Court erred when it found that NUWF lacked standing through a finding 

of no injury-in-fact, even though when Bowman bulldozed and cleared the wetlands NUWF 

members became reasonably concerned for their future aesthetic and recreational uses of the 

Muddy River. 

II. Whether a continuing violation is present, as required for subject matter jurisdiction by § 

505(a) of the CWA, because dredge and fill material is still present in the wetlands and further 

addition of dredge material could be reasonably expected to occur. 

III. Whether NUWF’s citizen suit is barred by NUDEP’s diligent prosecution of Bowman as set 

out in § 505(b) of the CWA, even though NUWF never had a chance to intervene and no 

penalties were brought against Bowman. 

IV. Whether Bowman discharged a pollutant to a water of the United States without a permit, 

when he moved dredge or fill material from one part of a wetland adjacent to navigable waters of 

the United States to another part of the same wetland, thereby violating CWA §§ 301(a) and 404. 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

NUWF has standing to bring suit against landowner Jim Bob Bowman.  Bowman’s 

activities have injured NUWF’s members and continue to do so in such a way that it is likely that 

a favorable judgment in NUWF’s case would redress those injuries.  Further, Bowman’s 

activities on his wetland, and the effects his past activities continue to have on that wetland, both 

constitute a continuing violation of the CWA.  In fact, Bowman’s landscaping activities on his 

wetland have dramatically altered the character of that parcel—by converting it from wetland to 

dry land—and this in turn has a continuing, deleterious effect on the Muddy River.  Further, 
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NUWF’s suit is not barred by NUDEP’s prosecution of its case against Bowman, since that 

prosecution has not been diligent.  A citizen suit is only barred when the government regulatory 

agency has both commenced and is diligently prosecuting an action against an offending party.  

Here, while NUDEP has commenced an action, diligent pursuit of the case against Bowman is 

lacking.  Finally, Bowman’s re-deposit of dredge or fill materials on his wetland constitutes an 

“addition of a pollutant” or a “discharge of fill” under appropriate provisions of the CWA or 

regulations of the Army Corps of Engineers.  The district court relied on dated precedent and 

suspect reasoning, while more recent case law and the latest decisions by the EPA and Corps 

make clear that Bowman’s activities fall well within the range of activities for which a Corps 

dredge and fill permit is required. 

First, NUWF has standing to bring suit in this matter.  The district court focused its 

inquiry on the presence of an injury-in-fact fairly traceable to Bowman’s land clearing.  Without 

explanation, the court dismissed NUWF’s claims of imminent future injury as mere speculation.  

In fact, members of NUWF, who frequently visit the Muddy River and its margins, have 

presented colorable claims to both injury-in-fact and imminent injury, both arising from 

Bowman’s activities on his wetland property. 

To establish an injury, NUWF need only point to specific facts that support its claim.  It 

has done so.  In particular, NUWF members have submitted their “reasonable concern” over 

pollution of the Muddy River, pollution directly caused by Bowman’s wetland destruction.  

“Reasonable concern” is a recognized injury for purposes of standing in environmental law 

cases.  In this case, reasonable concern arises from the frequent visits NUWF members make to 

the portions of the Muddy River that are on or near Bowman’s property.  His activities 
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diminished the members’ aesthetic and recreational use of the river, and raised their reasonable 

concerns for the river’s present and future health. 

Second, there is a continuing violation of the CWA on Bowman’s property by virtue of 

the fact that a curable violation has not been remedied—pollutants added to the wetland remain 

on the wetland.  Not only so, but these pollutants have served to eradicate the wetland by 

converting it to dry land.  As long as this remains the case, that is, as long as pollutants remain 

on the wetland, the violation persists. 

A continuing violation should also be construed since there is a reasonable expectation 

that further unlawful activities will occur.  While it would appear that Bowman has halted his 

land clearing operations in the wetland for the present, the burden for making it absolutely clear 

that the wrong behavior cannot reasonably be expected to recur lies on Bowman.  This is so 

because his compliance with NUDEP’s instruction in this matter has been voluntary.  Moreover, 

Bowman’s compliance is as-yet incomplete, in that he has so far not constructed the conservation 

easement agreed in NUDEP’s administrative order, which is also the subject of NUDEP’s 

lawsuit. 

Third, prosecution of NUDEP’s case against Bowman has been lax, not diligent.  

Effective prosecution demands action requiring compliance with the CWA, which in turn 

demands an end to any ongoing violation of that Act.  In considering whether agency prosecution 

has been diligent, a court must consider the proportionality of penalties imposed as compared 

with the economic and other benefits a violator enjoys through flouting the law.  In this case, 

effective prosecution ended when NUDEP negotiated an agreement with Bowman that permitted 

Bowman to keep all he had gained through destroying an entire wetland.  In essence, the Order 

let Bowman off with a penalty of a conservation easement on a strip of land measuring 75 feet by 



 

 

 

8 

 

 

150 feet—just about one quarter of an acre—without any further civil penalities.  For this 

infinitesimal concession, Bowman gets to keep the remainder of 1000 acres of former wetland, 

which he has converted to dry land, for his own economic benefit. 

Finally, the majority of courts and the modern trend both insist that re-deposit of 

materials removed from a wetland back onto the same wetland constitutes a discharge of fill 

material, or the addition of a pollutant, to that same wetland, an activity that requires a permit 

from the Army Corps of Engineers.  In addition, the EPA recently revised its interpretation of the 

word “addition” in the relevant portions of the CWA specifically to classify re-deposit of 

vegetation or other materials back into a wetland as a discharge to the wetland.  Thus both 

agency interpretation and the trend in case law have cast the earlier “from the outside world” 

definition of “discharge” into disfavor, calling into question the reasoning of the district court on 

this point.  Because the activities of Bowman do not fall within the narrow bounds of the 

exception for normal agricultural activities, his land clearing activities required a permit from the 

Corps of Engineers.  Since he did not have such a permit, his land clearing operation was 

unlawful, and to the extent he is permitted to retain the dry land he created free of penalty or 

reparation, he will profit from his own wrongdoing. 

For the foregoing reasons, the Appellant respectfully requests this Court to reverse the 

holdings of the Court below, and remand for further proceedings. 
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ARGUMENT 

I.  NUWF ESTABLISHED STANDING BECAUSE BY DESTROYING THE WETLANDS 

AND POLLUTING THE MUDDY RIVER, BOWMAN’S ACTIVITIES CREATED A 

REASONABLE CONCERN OVER THE NUWF MEMBERS’ FUTURE AESTHETIC 

AND RECREATIONAL USES OF THE MUDDY RIVER. 

The Supreme Court of the United States has articulated three elements of constitutional 

standing: (1) the plaintiff suffers an injury of a legally protected interest that is both (a) concrete 

and particularized, and (b) “actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical;” (2) there is a 

causal relationship between the injury and the action; and (3) a favorable result would redress the 

injury.  Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560-61 (1992); Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. 

Laidlaw Envt’l Servs., Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 180-81 (2000).  An organization has standing to bring 

suit on behalf of its members when (1) at least one member would have standing in his own 

right, (2) “the interests at stake are germane to the organization’s purpose,” and (3) actual 

member participation is not required.  Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 181. 

A.  NUWF members Milford, Norton, and Lawless all suffered an actual injury from 

Bowman’s destruction of the wetland because they are all reasonably concerned for the 

effects of the Muddy River’s pollution on their regular recreational activities. 

The party bringing suit bears the burden of establishing its standing.  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 

561.  When the action is brought to reverse a ruling of summary judgment, the burden of proof is 

heightened and standing must be established by affidavit or “specific facts” briefed to the 

appellate court.  Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 56(e);  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561.  However, the burden of proof 

is lower when the plaintiff is the subject of the action at issue than when the action concerns the 

regulation of a third party.  Id. at 561-62.  When there is no actual harm, an imminent injury 

must be established instead.  Id. at 564 n.2.  Additionally, when challenging environmental 

regulation, the plaintiff “must use the area affected by the challenged activity,” and the injury 
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may be aesthetic rather than economic.  Id. at 565-66; Sierra Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 734 

(1972).  Imminence is satisfied when the plaintiff reasonably uses the land on a regular basis or 

has visited the site since the challenged activity commenced.  Lujan, 504 at 579 (Kennedy, J. 

concurring). 

In Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Environmental Services, Inc., the Supreme Court 

held that standing is established when the members of an environmental interest group express 

“reasonable concern” over pollution in the areas they use for recreation.  528 U.S. at 183-84.  

Friends of the Earth brought a citizen suit against Laidlaw for CWA violations, which included 

the dumping of mercury and other pollutants into the North Tyger River.  Id. at 174.  Six 

members, who lived near the Laidlaw water treatment plant and had regularly enjoyed the 

aesthetic and recreational value of the river, submitted affidavits.  Id. at 181-83.  The six 

members averred that, due to the river’s now polluted appearance and smell, the river and its 

banks were no longer good for fishing, hiking, bird watching, canoeing, picnicking, or 

swimming.  Id.  Therefore, because Laidlaw’s pollution sparked a “reasonable concern” over the 

six members’ use of the river, the members’ interests were directly affected, and the organization 

successfully established standing.  Id. at 183-84. 

The Supreme Court came to the opposite conclusion in Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife, 

holding that an environmental interest group lacked standing when the action in question had no 

direct or imminent effect on its members’ interests.  504 U.S. at 562-64.  There, Defenders of 

Wildlife objected to the Department of Interior’s interpretation that the Endangered Species Act 

did not apply in foreign nations.  Id. at 559.  The environmental group provided affidavits from 

members who had once viewed endangered species in these foreign nations.  Id.  Although 

Defenders of Wildlife showed that its members had a “cognizable interest” in the viewing of 
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endangered species in foreign nations, the Court found that the government’s actions had no 

imminent effect on that interest.  Id. at 562-64.  The members’ averments to one day revisit these 

foreign locales were too “indefinite” and lacked “immediacy”—essential elements of 

constitutional standing.  Id. at 564 n.2.  

Here, NUWF satisfies the injury-in-fact standing requirement.  NUWF members Milford, 

Norton, and Lawless suffered both a direct and aesthetic injury because they have a “reasonable 

concern” over the pollution in the Muddy River.  The three members frequently boated, fished, 

and picnicked near Bowman’s property before he destroyed the wetland.  When Bowman began 

bulldozing the trees near the river, the members immediately noticed a change in the scenery. 

 The Muddy River suddenly looked polluted and smelled bad.  Therefore, it is immaterial that the 

destroyed wetland is shielded from the public’s view.  The members can still see the negative 

effects of Bowman’s activities in the Muddy River.  The pollution diminished Milford’s, 

Norton’s, and Lawless’s aesthetic and recreational use of the river and raised an immediate 

“reasonable concern” for the river’s health. 

Unlike the affiants in Lujan, the three NUWF members regularly visit the Muddy River 

near Bowman’s property.  Also unlike the Lujan affiants, the members have all visited the area 

since Bowman destroyed his wetland, and all have seen the immediate deleterious effects on the 

health of the Muddy River and its ecosystem, caused by the loss of the wetland.  The NUWF 

members’ experience resembles that of the affiants in Laidlaw, who also regularly used the area 

in question for recreational activities.  Milford’s, Norton’s, and Lawless’s regular use of the land 

and river and their reasonable concern for the river’s future show that the river’s pollution has 

had both an actual and an immediate effect on all three members’ interests.  Therefore, their 

injury is not speculative, but actual. 
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Norton used Bowman’s property while frogging, before and after the wetland was 

drained.  After the wetland was destroyed, Norton noticed an immediate loss of healthy, adult 

frogs.  His frogging is, therefore, directly affected by the loss of wetland.  However, the District 

Court ruled that because Norton’s activities on Bowman’s property depended on his prior act of 

trespassing on private property, the injury requirement was not satisfied.  Even assuming there 

was trespass in an earlier period, Norton’s frogging on Bowman’s property became legal as soon 

as the conservation easement providing for public access was established by NUDEP’s Order. 

 Therefore, after August 1, 2011, Norton’s frogging on Bowman’s property was legal, and injury 

can then be established. 

B.  NUWF can also establish causation and redressability to meet the standing threshold.  

Although the District Court only looked at the injury requirement for standing, NUWF 

can establish causation and redressability as well.  Bowman’s decision to drain and destroy the 

wetland on his property had an immediate effect of polluting the Muddy River, thereby 

diminishing NUWF members’ aesthetic and recreational use of the area.  NUWF’s injury can 

also be redressed by penalizing Bowman pursuant to §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA because 

appropriate penalties will deter future violations.  See Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 185 (finding that civil 

penalties have a deterrent effect on future CWA violations). 

II. THERE IS A CONTINUING VIOLATION AS REQUIRED FOR SUBJECT MATTER 

JURISDICTION BY § 505(A) OF THE CWA BECAUSE DREDGE OR FILL 

MATERIAL IS STILL PRESENT IN THE WETLAND AND THE ADDITION OF 

DREDGE OR FILL MATERIAL COULD REASONABLY BE EXPECTED TO RECUR. 

A. Because the dredge and fill material is still present, there is a continuing violation. 

If a curable violation is not corrected, the violation is ongoing.  Sasser v. Adm’r U.S. 

E.P.A., 990 F.2d 127, 129 (4th Cir. 1993).  In addition, wholly past violations are not barred.  
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Citizens for a Better Env’t v. The Steel Co., 90 F.3d 1237, 1244-45 (7th Cir. 1996), cert. granted, 

519 U.S. 1147 (Feb. 24, 1997).  In Sasser, defendant Sasser was charged with discharging 

dredged or fill material into wetlands.  990 F.2d at 129.  The Fourth Circuit held that Sasser’s 

violation was continuing because “each day the pollutant remains in the wetlands without a 

permit constitutes an additional day of violation.”  Id.; see also United States v. Reaves, 923 F. 

Supp. 1530, 1534 (M.D. Fla. 1996) (holding that “Defendant’s unpermitted discharge of dredged 

or fill materials into wetlands on the site is a continuing violation for as long as the fill 

remains.”).  In United States v. Cumberland Farms of Connecticut, Inc., the Massachusetts 

district court found that a continuing violation “constitutes not only a day in which Cumberland 

was actually using a bulldozer or backhoe in the wetland area, but also every day Cumberland 

allowed illegal fill material to remain therein.”  647 F. Supp. 1166, 1183 (D. Mass. 1986) aff'd, 

826 F.2d 1151 (1st Cir. 1987).  Some courts have even said wholly past violations are not barred.  

The Seventh Circuit in Citizens for a Better Environment stated: 

If the interpretation advanced by the Sixth Circuit and adopted by the district 

court is correct, citizen suits could only proceed when a violator receives notice of 

intent to sue and still fails to spend the minimal effort required to fill out the 

forms and turn them in.  This would largely shift the cost of EPCRA compliance 

from regulated industrial users to private citizens.  Private citizens would have to 

absorb much of the cost of monitoring chemical use and keeping up to date on 

changes in EPCRA requirements, with little or no hope of recovering those costs 

through awards of ligation expenses.  Private enforcement of the reporting 

requirements would undoubtedly drop off.  This scenario is impossible to 

reconcile with the clearly expressed intent of Congress, or with the very existence 

of the citizen enforcement provision. 

 

 90 F.3d at 1244-45.  Therefore, to protect the citizen enforcement provision, courts should still 

entertain suits for past violations. 

Here, the continued presence of dredged or fill material in the former wetland on 

Bowman’s property constitutes an ongoing violation.  The lasting harmful effect of such material 

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1996167323&pubNum=506&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=%28sc.UserEnteredCitation%29#co_pp_sp_506_1239
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1996242624&pubNum=708&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=%28sc.UserEnteredCitation%29
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1996242624&pubNum=708&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=%28sc.UserEnteredCitation%29
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1996167323&pubNum=506&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=%28sc.UserEnteredCitation%29#co_pp_sp_506_1239
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on the environment, not the discharge itself, makes this an ongoing violation.  The New Union 

District Court erred when it stated that all discharge violations of this nature would be deemed 

continuing if courts followed this interpretation.  Instead, only violations that continue while 

susceptible to remedial efforts would be ongoing.  As a result, there would only be an ongoing 

violation when the harm caused by the discharge of dredge material was immediate and 

correctable.  Thus, the jurisdictional requirement for a continuing violation would not be 

rendered meaningless.  Furthermore, the statute of limitations still applies and would start tolling 

once the violation was corrected.  Therefore, since the harm of the dredge or fill material here 

could be corrected, the violation should be considered ongoing. 

B. The violation could reasonably be expected to recur because Bowman violated the 

CWA not only by clearing the trees, but also adding the dredge material. 

In the case of voluntary compliance, “the defendant must demonstrate that it is absolutely 

clear the alleged wrong behavior could not reasonably be expected to recur.” Gwaltney of 

Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 65 (1987) (internal quotation 

marks omitted); see also Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs., Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 

189 (2000) (quoting United States v. Concentrated Phosphate Exp. Ass'n, 393 U.S. 199, 203 

(1968)) (“The ‘heavy burden of persua[ding]’ the court that the challenged conduct cannot 

reasonably be expected to start up again lies with the party asserting mootness.”).  “It is the duty 

of the courts to beware of efforts to defeat injunctive relief by protestations of repentance and 

reform, especially when abandonment seems timed to anticipate suit, and there is probability of 

resumption.”  United States v. Or. State Med. Soc., 343 U.S. 326, 333 (1952).  However, if there 

is a consent decree, the citizen-plaintiff must prove “that there is a realistic prospect that the 

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I2370d7939c1e11d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?originationContext=docHeader&contextData=%28sc.UserEnteredCitation%29&transitionType=Document&docSource=2d42fef8fe2742238df3686b79f276d9
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I2370d7939c1e11d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?originationContext=docHeader&contextData=%28sc.UserEnteredCitation%29&transitionType=Document&docSource=2d42fef8fe2742238df3686b79f276d9
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violations alleged in its complaint will continue notwithstanding [government enforcement].” 

Envtl. Conservation Org. v. City of Dallas, 529 F.3d 519, 528 (5th Cir. 2008). 

Here, the addition of dredged spoil to the land could reasonably be expected to recur. 

Although NUDEP only informed Bowman that he violated state and federal law by clearing the 

wetlands, NUWF’s Order also included the fill material violation. The District Court found 

Bowman’s land clearing activities not to be an ongoing violation because they ceased on July 15, 

2012, and because it saw no reason to believe he will resume them since he placed his remaining 

land in a conservation easement.  However, the District Court erred when it stated that planting 

wheat seeds and draining the property through the drainage ditch do not constitute adding 

dredged spoil or fill to the property. Furthermore, the District Court does not discuss the 

possibility that a resulting deposit of runoff to the Muddy River could constitute a deposit of fill 

material, and thus itself be an ongoing violation.   

The conservation easement protects only the wetland that Bowman has not yet destroyed, 

not wetland already cleared.  Bowman has the burden of showing that his violations are not 

likely to recur, which he has not.  Although there was a consent decree filed, the motion is still 

pending before the District Court.  In addition, it is likely that the terms of the decree only 

discuss the land clearing violation and not the addition of dredge material to the Muddy River.  

Therefore, the burden of showing reoccurrences does not move to the plaintiff; it stays with the 

defendant.  Because it could be reasonably expected that Bowman could continue to add dredged 

material to his land, there is a continuing violation. 
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III. NUWF’S CITIZEN SUIT IS NOT BARRED BY NUDEP’S ACTION AGAINST 

BOWMAN, BECAUSE THAT ACTION HAS NOT BEEN DILIGENTLY PROSECUTED 

AS DEMANDED BY § 505(B) OF THE CWA. 

A.  NUDEP did not diligently prosecute its action against Bowman, because it permitted 

extensive and ongoing violations of the CWA to go uncorrected and unpenalized. 

Citizen suits provide “a second level of enforcement and can serve as a check to ensure 

the state and federal governments are diligent in prosecuting Clean Water Act violations.”  Piney 

Run Preservation Ass’n v. Cty. Comm’rs of Carroll Cty., MD, 523 F.3d 453, 456 (4th Cir. 2008) 

(quoting Sierra Club v. Hamilton Cty. Bd. Of Cty. Comm’rs, 504 F.3d 634, 637 (6th Cir. 2007)).  

However, no citizen suit may commence if the agency or State charged with regulatory 

enforcement “has commenced and is diligently prosecuting a civil or criminal action” against the 

alleged violator.  33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B).  The meaning of “diligently prosecuting” under § 

1365 is reviewed de novo.  Karr v. Hefner, 475 F.3d 1192, 1196-98 (10th Cir. 2007).  Although 

the enforcement agency’s diligence is presumed, “a diligent prosecution analysis requires more 

than mere acceptance of face value of the potentially self-serving statements of a state agency 

and the violator with whom it settled regarding their intent with respect to the effect of the 

settlement.”  Friends of Milwaukee's Rivers v. Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage Dist., 382 F.3d 743, 

760 (7th Cir. 2004). 

Agency enforcement will be considered diligent when the action taken is “capable of 

requiring compliance with the Act” and is calculated in good faith to do so.  Piney Run 

Preservation Ass’n, 523 F.3d at 460.  However, there is no diligent prosecution when the agency 

action fails to resolve a problem that leads to an ongoing violation.  Friends of Milwaukee's 

Rivers, 382 F.3d at 752-53.  Therefore, “[c]ompliance means an end to violations, not merely a 

reduction in the number or size of them.”  Id. at 764.  Furthermore, according to the CWA’s 
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legislative history, a citizen suit is not barred even when an agency action is pending, as long as 

the court views the agency action so far as “inadequate.”  S. Rep. No. 414, 1972 U.S.C.C.A.N. 

3668, 3746; see also Sierra Club v. Two Elk Generation Partners, Ltd. P’ship, 646 F.3d 1258, 

1264 (10th Cir. 2011) (finding that a citizen suit is not barred when “the State was not diligently 

prosecuting an enforcement action at the time the citizen suit was filed”). 

Although not required by the statute, the imposition of civil penalties is one way to 

ensure compliance.  Id. at 762-63.  Reviewing courts should take into account the amount of the 

penalty assessed and what economic benefit the violator received by not complying with the 

permit.  See Atl. States Legal Found., Inc. v. Hamelin, 182 F. Supp. 2d 235, 247 (N.D.N.Y. 

2001) (recognizing that courts can look at “the amount of the penalty assessed compared to the 

maximum amount that could have been assessed.”); Jones v. City of Lakeland, Tennessee, 224 

F.3d 518, 523 (6th Cir. 2000) (finding that “impos[ing] nominal token penalties in lieu of 

punitive compliance incentive penalties” does not reach the level of diligent prosecution); 

Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs., Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 178 n.1 (2000) (noting 

that the district court ruled there was no diligent prosecution partly because the agency failed to 

calculate the defendant’s economic benefit from non-compliance).  In Laidlaw, the Supreme 

Court ruled that only the imposition and not the availability of civil penalties will deter future 

violations.  528 U.S. at 186.  Noting that the purpose of civil penalties is to both “promote 

immediate compliance” and “deter future violations,” the Court stated that “a threat has no 

deterrent value unless it is credible that it will be carried out. . . . [A] defendant once hit in its 

pocketbook will surely think twice before polluting again.”  Id. 

Furthermore, a citizen suit is not barred from seeking civil penalties even after the 

violator begins to comply with his permit.  Id. at 180.  Neither is a citizen suit barred when a 
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government agency imposes an administrative compliance order without penalties.  Wash. Pub. 

Interest Research Grp. (Wash PIRG) v. Pendleton Woolen Mills, 11 F.3d 883, 886 (9th Cir. 

1993).  In Pendleton, the Ninth Circuit stated that a citizen suit will only be barred when the 

government agency is prosecuting under § 1319 of the CWA for civil penalties.  Id. at 885.  The 

court determined that it was Congress’s intent as well as the plain language of the statute to not 

bar citizen suits in this type of situation.  Id. at 885-86. 

Here, NUDEP failed to diligently prosecute Bowman.  First, there was no diligent 

prosecution because NUDEP’s Order allows for ongoing CWA violations to occur.  The Order 

does not prevent Bowman from draining more material into the Muddy River and it does not 

solve the problem of the dredge or fill material already in the river.  Next, the CWA allows for 

an administrative penalty of up to $125,000, but NUDEP imposed no penalty against Bowman.  

Nor did the court below consider the economic benefit Bowman gained from not complying with 

the CWA when they held that NUDEP diligently prosecuted Bowman.  The lack of penalties in 

NUDEP’s Order and lawsuit offer no hope that Bowman will be deterred from violating the 

CWA in the future.  Therefore, the relief was inadequate, and there was no diligent prosecution. 

B. Even if government prosecution had been diligent, NUWF’s suit is not moot since 

Bowman’s activities constitute an ongoing violation. 

If “there is a realistic prospect that the violations alleged in [a citizen suit] complaint will 

continue,” then government action does not moot the suit.  Envtl. Conservation Org. v. City of 

Dallas, 529 F.3d 519, 528 (5th Cir. 2008); see also Comfort Lake Ass'n v. Dresel Contracting, 

Inc., 138 F.3d 351, 355 (8th Cir. 1998) (stating government actions do not moot a suit unless it is 

absolutely clear that the violations will not continue to occur); Atl. States Legal Found., Inc. v. 

Eastman Kodak Co., 933 F.2d 124, 128 (2nd Cir. 1991) (holding that relief can be pursued if 
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there is a possibility of continuing violations); Ohio Valley Envtl. Coal., Inc. v. Hobet Min., LLC, 

723 F. Supp. 2d 886, 903 (S.D.W. Va. 2010) (explaining that a governmental enforcement action 

moots a suit unless the citizen shows that there is a chance that the violations will continue). 

Therefore, the actions of the government will not moot a citizen suit if there is a likelihood that 

the violations stated by the citizen will continue. 

NUDEP entered into an agreement with Bowman to cease the destruction of the wetlands 

so it is not possible for Bowman to continue those activities.  However, Bowman voluntarily 

stopped committing the other violations, and it is possible that he could continue to add dredge 

or fill material to the land and other pollutants to the water through the ditch that he dug.  Since 

NUWF can show that there is a reasonable likelihood that Bowman’s discharge violations will 

continue, NUDEP’s Order does not moot NUWF’s citizen suit. 

IV. BOWMAN DISCHARGED A POLLUTANT TO NAVIGABLE WATERS OF THE 

UNITED STATES WITHOUT A PERMIT, WHEN HE MOVED DREDGE OR FILL 

MATERIAL FROM ONE PART OF A WETLAND ADJACENT TO NAVIGABLE 

WATERS OF THE UNITED STATES TO ANOTHER PART OF THE SAME 

WETLAND. 

Congress enacted the Clean Water Act to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical, 

and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.”  33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).  The Clean Water Act 

prohibits “the discharge of any pollutant” into the nation’s waters.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).  The Act 

defines discharge as “any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.” 

33 U.S.C. § 1362(12).  In the CWA, the terms “navigable waters” and “waters of the United 

States” refer to “rivers, streams” and “wetlands abutting such a hydrographic feature.”  Rapanos 

v. United States, 547 U.S. 715, 734-35 (2006); United States v. Riverside Bayview Homes, Inc., 

474 U.S. 121, 131 (1985).  The term “pollutant” means, inter alia, “dredged spoil, solid waste, 
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. . . biological materials, . . . rock, sand, [and] cellar dirt.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(6).  It is unlawful to 

discharge pollutants into wetlands without a permit from the Army Corps of Engineers.  33 

U.S.C. § 1344(a),(d); Borden Ranch P’ship v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 261 F.3d 810, 813-

14 (9th Cir. 2001) aff'd, 537 U.S. 99 (2002).  The intent of the rules enacted in the CWA is “to 

prevent conversion of wetlands to dry lands.”  United States v. Akers, 785 F.2d 814, 822 (9th Cir. 

1986). 

A. Soil, trees, and other vegetation removed from one place on a wetland and re-

deposited in another place on the same wetland are “additions” for purposes of the Clean 

Water Act, and thus regulated as “discharges” under that Act. 

 The word “addition,” as used in the definition of the term “discharge,” “may reasonably 

be understood to include ‘redeposit’.”  Avoyelles Sportsmen’s League, Inc. v. Marsh, 715 F.2d 

897, 923 (5th Cir. 1983).  Thus, activities that destroy the ecology of a wetland “are not immune 

from the Clean Water Act merely because they do not involve the introduction of material 

brought in from somewhere else.”  Borden Ranch, 261 F.3d at 814-15; see Rybachek v. U.S. 

E.P.A., 904 F.2d 1276, 1285 (9th Cir. 1990) (holding that even if material discharged into a 

stream originated in the bed of the self-same stream, its suspension in the stream “may be 

interpreted to be an addition of a pollutant” under the CWA despite the fact that the soil was not 

physically introduced from somewhere else); United States v. M.C.C. of Florida, Inc., 772 F.2d 

1501, 1506 (11th Cir. 1985) (digging up sediment and then re-depositing it on the sea bottom 

constitutes addition of pollutants), vacated and remanded on other grounds, 481 U.S. 1034 

(1987), readopted in part and remanded on other grounds, 848 F.2d 1133 (11th Cir. 1988) 

(interpreting Supreme Court’s action as affecting a different part of the original opinion), reh’g 

granted in other part, 863 F.2d 802 (11th Cir. 1989). 
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 In some early cases, the D.C. Circuit and the Sixth Circuit accepted an EPA definition of 

“addition” to demand the material in question come “from the outside world.”  Nat'l Wildlife 

Fed'n v. Gorsuch, 693 F.2d 156, 175 (D.C. Cir. 1982) (accepting an EPA definition of “addition” 

such that addition from a point source occurs only if the point source itself physically introduces 

a pollutant into water from the outside world); Nat’l Wildlife Fed’n v. Consumers Power Co., 

862 F.2d 580, 584 (6th Cir. 1988) (holding that discharge of pollutants into a body of water is 

not an “addition” if it does not “add” a pollutant from the outside world); see also Nat’l Min. 

Ass’n v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 145 F.3d 1399, 1404 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (holding that “the 

straightforward statutory term ‘addition’ cannot reasonably be said to encompass the situation in 

which material is removed from the waters of the United States and a small portion of it happens 

to fall back”). 

 But recent cases in every other circuit to consider the question favor the opposite 

conclusion, and have “undercut severely the holdings of Gorsuch and Consumers Power.”  

Greenfield Mills, Inc. v. Macklin, 361 F.3d 934, 947 (7th Cir. 2004).  For example, the Fourth 

Circuit held that “sidecasting” (the deposit of dredged or excavated material from a wetland back 

into that same wetland) was an “addition” of a pollutant even though nothing was added from the 

outside world.  United States v. Deaton, 209 F.3d 331, 335 (4th Cir. 2000).  Deaton specifically 

rejected the reasoning that if “no net increase in the amount of material present in the wetland” 

occurs, then the movement of material from one place to another does not involve an addition.  

Id.  The court focused instead on the fact that the statute does not bar the addition of material, 

but the addition of a pollutant.  Id.  The court pointed out that merely digging a ditch transformed 

the “earth and vegetable matter” removed from the ditch into “‘dredged spoil,’ a . . . type of 

material that up until then was not present” on the property.   Id.  Similarly, movement of 
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material from one place to another “transforms [the material moved] from a nonpollutant into a 

pollutant.”  Id.  The crucial issue was that “once that material was excavated from the wetland, 

its redeposit in that same wetland added a pollutant where none had been before.”  Id. at 335-36; 

see 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6), (12) [defining “discharge of a pollutant” to include “addition of any 

pollutant”]. 

 The issues in Avoyelles focused on 20,000 acres of forested wetland, which the owners 

cleared in order to put to agricultural use.   715 F.2d at 901.  Using bulldozers, the owners felled 

timber and other vegetation, which was then gathered into windrows and burned.  Id. at 920.  

The ashes were then raked, which resulted in some leveling of the ground, by filling in low areas.  

Id. at 921.  Some vegetable material was also buried in trenches, and the landowners dug one 

drainage ditch, the dirt from which was to be spread over the adjacent area.  Id.  Plaintiffs 

brought a citizens’ suit against the Corps and EPA, as well as the private landowners, alleging 

that the land clearing would result in unpermitted discharge of dredged and fill material into 

waters of the United States, in violation of §§ 301(a) and 404 of the CWA (33 U.S.C. §§ 1311, 

1344) and also discharge of pollutants into waters of the United States in violation of § 402 (33 

U.S.C. § 1342).  Id. at 901-902.  The court concluded that these land clearing activities 

“constituted a discharge within the meaning of the Act.”  Id. at 924. 

 The facts in the present case fit those in Avoyelles.  Bowman owns a large tract of 

wetland adjacent to a river, wholly within its floodplain and hydrologically connected to the 

river, and naturally covered with trees and other vegetation characteristic of wetlands.  The river 

and wetlands are both navigable waters of the United States under the CWA.   As in Avoyelles, 

landowner Bowman cleared the land using bulldozers to knock down trees, and then to collect 

felled trees and plants into windrows, which he then burned.  Bowman dug trenches where he 
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buried burned and unburned vegetation, and he used the bulldozer to level the resulting field.  

Bowman also dug a ditch to drain the land.  The record does not say where Bowman placed the 

dirt removed from the ditch, but the Court may reasonably conclude that a sidecasting method 

was used, so that this dirt also was re-deposited in the wetland.  All of Bowman’s activity 

transformed existing plant and soil material on the parcel into “pollutants” and Bowman’s 

activity correspondingly became “discharge” of pollutants into waters of the United States. 

B. EPA interpretation of the word “addition” deserves deference from the Court, and that 

agency’s most recent interpretation includes “re-deposit” in the definition of “discharge” 

subject to the permit requirement of § 404 of the CWA. 

 Interpretation of the word “addition” by agencies charged with enforcement of the Clean 

Water Act warrants deference by the courts.  See Chevron U.S.A., Inc. v. NRDC, Inc., 467 U.S. 

837, 844 (1984); see also EPA v. Nat’l Crushed Stone Ass’n, 449 U.S. 64, 83 (1980) (stating that 

“this Court shows great deference to the interpretation given the statute by the officers or agency 

charged with its administration”) (quotation omitted).  That deference is, however, tempered by 

the higher obligation of deference to the intent of Congress, so that if the Court finds that “EPA’s 

interpretation is inconsistent with the language of the Clean Water Act, as interpreted in light of 

the legislative history, or if it ‘frustrate[s] the policy that Congress sought to implement,’ no 

amount of deference can save it.”  Fed. Election Comm’n v. Democratic Senatorial Campaign 

Comm., 454 U.S. 27, 32 (1981); see SEC v. Sloan, 436 U.S. 103, 118 (1978). 

 Gorsuch relied on such an interpretation.  693 F.2d at 175.  But after the Gorsuch ruling, 

the EPA called its own interpretation into question, when it explained in another case that “if 

vegetation or other materials are redeposited in the wetland, that activity is a discharge.”  

Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 923.  At oral argument in that case, the EPA explained further that, “if the 

vegetation were cut down and put back into the wetlands soil, . . . then there would have been a 
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redeposit in the wetland, and hence a discharge.”  Id. at 923 n.40 (citing Federal Defendants’ 

Reply Brief at 2 n.1).   

 In the now disfavored interpretation accepted by Gorsuch, the EPA was cited as having 

defined “addition” in terms of introduction of pollutants “from the outside world.”  Gorsuch, 693 

F.2d at 175.  However, this attempt at a definition occurred in the narrow context of a 

determination whether transportation of pollution from place to place by means of being carried 

downstream in a waterway qualified as point-source pollution, a situation in which the pollutant 

did not move into the water, but instead was present in water that moved.  Id.  It was in this 

extreme situation that the “EPA respond[ed] that addition from a point source occurs only if the 

point source itself physically introduces a pollutant into water from the outside world.  In its 

view, the point or nonpoint character of pollution is established when the pollutant first enters 

navigable water . . . .”  Id. at 174-75. 

 The newer EPA interpretation of “addition” to include “re-deposit” should be accepted 

both because it is the more recent interpretation by the enforcing agency, but also because it is 

more consistent with the express congressional purpose in the CWA to “restore and maintain the 

chemical, physical and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.”  Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 923 

(quoting 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a)).  The Fourth Circuit expressed that purpose as:   

In deciding to classify dredged spoil as a pollutant, Congress determined that 

plain dirt, once excavated from waters of the United States, could not be 

redeposited into those waters without causing harm to the environment. . . . 

Congress had good reason to be concerned about the reintroduction of [materials 

including dirt and vegetation] into the waters of the United States, including the 

wetlands that are a part of those waters. 

 

Deaton, 209 F.3d at 336. 
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 In the present case, the court below found there was no “addition” of dredged spoil to 

Bowman’s wetland because the dredge was relocated from one part of the wetland to the other.  

In support of this finding, the court cited Gorsuch, 693 F.2d. at 175.  But this finding runs afoul 

of the twin difficulties that (1) the Gorsuch ruling should be confined to the narrow set of facts 

considered in that case, and (2) Gorsuch relied on an obsolete agency definition of “addition.”  

Chevron deference is owed to the agency definition as it now stands, not as it once was.  

Moreover, Congress’s intent in passing the CWA weighs heavily in favor of the newer EPA 

interpretation.  Only the definition of “addition” that encompasses re-deposit of materials 

adequately serves the interests Congress sought to protect by passage of the Act.  

C. Because soil, trees, and other vegetation removed from one place on a wetland and re-

deposited in another place on the same wetland are a “discharge” of “fill” for purposes of 

the Clean Water Act, they are subject to regulation by the Army Corps of Engineers 

under § 404 of that Act, which forbids such discharge without a permit. 

 Section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act makes “the discharge of any pollutant” into the 

waters of the United States unlawful, unless the discharge is in compliance with one of the 

regulatory regimes provided for in the Act.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).  Under § 404 of the CWA, the 

Army Corps of Engineers has authority to issue permits for the “discharge of dredged or fill 

material into the navigable waters at specified disposal sites.”  33 U.S.C. § 1344(a).  Combined, 

the two sections require anyone discharging any pollutant into the nation’s waters to first receive 

a permit from the Corps. 

 The Corps has defined “fill material” as “material placed in waters of the United States 

where the material has the effect of: (i) Replacing any portion of a water of the United States 

with dry land; or (ii) Changing the bottom elevation of any portion of a water of the United 

States.”  33 C.F.R. § 323.2(e)(1) (2008).  The term “discharge of fill material” means “addition 
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of fill material into waters of the United States,” and generally includes “site-development fills 

for recreational, industrial, commercial, residential, or other uses.”  33 C.F.R. § 323.2(f) (2008). 

 The Corps has defined “dredged material” as “material that is excavated or dredged from 

waters of the United States.”  33 C.F.R. § 323.2(c) (2008).  “Discharge of dredged material” is 

defined in part as:  

any addition of dredged material into, including redeposit of dredged material 

other than incidental fallback within, the waters of the United States.  The term 

includes, but is not limited to, the following: . . .  (iii) Any addition, including 

redeposit other than incidental fallback, of dredged material, including excavated 

material, into waters of the United States which is incidental to any activity, 

including mechanized landclearing, ditching, channelization, or other excavation.   

 

33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d)(1) (2008).   

 The Avoyelles court also found that the material discharged as a result of the landclearing 

operations in that case was “fill,” and therefore, subject to regulation under § 404, as long as it 

did not fall within the § 404(f) agricultural exemption.  Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 924.  The court 

observed that the burying of unburned material, as well as the operation of cultivating equipment 

on the parcel, “had the effect of filling in sloughs and leveling the land.”  Id.  The intention of the 

defendants in that case was to prepare the land for agricultural planting, from which the court 

concluded “[c]ertainly, the activities were designed to ‘replace the aquatic area with dry land’.”  

Id. at 924-25.  The court, therefore, held that the landowners were discharging “fill material” into 

wetlands.  Id. at 925. 

 The present case is on all fours with Avoyelles.  Exactly as in Avoyelles, landowner 

Bowman engaged in the burying of unburned material and the spreading of burned material and 

soil, with the effect of filling in hollows and leveling the land.  Exactly as in Avoyelles, 

Bowman’s intention was to prepare the land for planting of a dry land crop (soy in Avoyelles, 
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wheat in the present case).  Exactly as in Avoyelles, Bowman’s intention was to replace waters of 

the United States with dry land.  Therefore, just as in Avoyelles, Bowman’s activity should be 

construed as “discharge” of “fill material” into waters of the United States, an activity unlawful 

without a permit from the Corps of Engineers, which Bowman did not have.  

D. Bowman’s landclearing, though intended to prepare the land for agricultural use, was 

not a “normal farming activity” exempt under § 404(f) of the Act. 

 Section 404(f)(1) of the Clean Water Act exempts normal agricultural activities from the 

section’s permit requirements: 

Except as provided in paragraph (2) of this subsection, the discharge of dredged 

or fill material— 

(A) from normal farming, silviculture, and ranching activities such as plowing, 

seeding, cultivating, minor drainage, harvesting for the production of food, fiber, 

and forest products, or upland soil and water conservation practices. 

 

33 U.S.C. § 1344(f)(1)(A).  Corps regulations exclude “plowing, cultivating, feeding and 

harvesting for the production of food, fiber and forest products” from the definitions of a 

discharge of dredged or fill material.  33 C.F.R. §§ 323.2(l), (n); see Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 925. 

 However, paragraph two of subsection (f) dictates that discharges “incidental to any 

activity having as its purpose bringing an area of the navigable waters into a use to which it was 

not previously subject, where the flow or circulation of navigable waters may be impaired or the 

reach of such waters be reduced,” require a permit even if they qualify for the § 404(f)(1) 

exemptions.  33 U.S.C. § 1344(f)(2).  Avoyelles affirmed that the § 404(f)(1) exemptions were 

limited to “ongoing” farming activities.  715 F.2d at 925.  Since no farming operation could be 

contemplated on the parcel until after the land was cleared, the parcel as wetland could entertain 

no “ongoing” farming activities, and the act of clearing the land was itself not a “normal farming 

activit[y].”  Id.  The legislative history of the agricultural exception emphasizes the narrowness 
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of the exception.  See 3 Legislative History of the Clean Water Act of 1977 at 474 (S. Debate, 

Dec. 15, 1977) (remarks of Sen. Muskie) (emphasizing that the agricultural exception is 

available only for “those narrowly defined activities that cause little or no adverse effects either 

individually or cumulatively. . . . [T]he exemptions do not apply to discharges that convert 

extensive areas of water into dry land . . . .”). 

 In the present case, Bowman’s land had never before been used for dry land agricultural 

purposes.  On that basis alone, his land clearing operation does not qualify for the exemption for 

“normal,” “ongoing” farming activities.  On the contrary, Bowman’s activities fall squarely 

within the activity excluded from the exception in § 1344(f)(2), by bringing the wetlands in 

question into a use to which they were not previously subject, and impairing the reach and flow 

of navigable waters of the United States. 

CONCLUSION 

NUWF has standing to bring a citizen suit under 33 U.S.C. § 1365 because its members 

suffered an actual injury when Bowman destroyed the wetlands, thereby creating a basis for 

reasonable concern for the members’ future aesthetic and recreational uses of the Muddy River.  

A continuing violation is also present in the wetland because dredge or fill material are still 

present in the wetland, and further addition of such material can reasonably be expected to occur.  

NUWF’s citizen suit is not barred by NUDEP’s commencement of an administrative order or 

court action against Bowman because the prosecution of the action against Bowman has not been 

diligently pursued.  Even if it had been diligently prosecuted, a citizen suit is not barred when 

there is an ongoing violation, as there is here.  Finally, Bowman violated CWA §§ 301(a) and 

404 by moving dredge or fill material from one part of the wetland to another.   
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For these reasons, the Appellant respectfully requests that this Court reverse the holdings 

of the District Court for the District of New Union granting New Union Department of 

Environmental Protection’s and Jim Bob Bowman’s motions for summary judgment.  Appellant 

requests this Court to remand all these matters for further proceedings. 


